Applied Energy 179 (2016) 124-135

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Applied Energy

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/apenergy

Biogas production through syntrophic acetate oxidation and deliberate operating strategies for improved digester performance

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT



AppliedEnergy

Maria Westerholm^{a,*}, Jan Moestedt^b, Anna Schnürer^a

^a Department of Microbiology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala BioCenter, Box 7025, SE-750 07 Uppsala, Sweden^b Department of Biogas R & D, Tekniska Verken i Linköping AB (publ.), Box 1500, SE-581 15 Linköping, Sweden

HIGHLIGHTS

tion (SAO)

- Syntrophic acetate oxidation (SAO) dominates in ammonia-adapted biogas processes.
- SAO bacteria compete for acetate and depend on their methanogenic partner.
- Syntrophic acetate oxidisers are present under a wide range of operating conditions.
- Ammonia, acetate, temperature, retention time and trace elements influence SAO.
- Awareness of SAO enables strategies for process optimisation.



A R T I C L E I N F O

Article history: Received 18 January 2016 Received in revised form 1 June 2016 Accepted 17 June 2016

Keywords: Syntrophic acetate oxidising bacteria Methanogens Ammonia inhibition Operational parameters Trace metals Temperature

ABSTRACT

Anaerobic degradation of protein-rich materials has high methane potential and produces nutrient-rich residue, but requires strategies to avoid ammonia inhibition. A well-adapted process can cope with substantially higher ammonia levels than an unadapted process and analyses of pathways for methanisation of acetate, combined with determination of microbial community structure, strongly indicate that this is due to a significant contribution of syntrophic acetate oxidation. The microorganisms involved in syntrophic acetate oxidation thus most likely occupy a unique niche and play an important role in methane formation. This review summarises current insight of syntrophic acetate oxidising microorganisms, their presence and the detection of novel species and relate these observations with operating conditions of the biogas processes in order to explore contributing factors for development of an ammonia-tolerant microbial community that efficiently degrades acetate through the syntrophic pathway. Besides high ammonia level, acetate concentration, temperature and methanogenic community structure are considered in this review as likely factors that shape and influence SAO-mediated microbial ecosystems. The

* Corresponding author.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2016.06.061

Abbreviations: VFA, volatile fatty acids; SAO, syntrophic acetate oxidation; SAOB, syntrophic acetate-oxidising bacteria; HRT, hydraulic retention time; qPCR, quantitative PCR; FTHFS, formyl tetrahydrofolate synthetase; DNA-SIP, nucleic acid-based stable carbon isotopic probing; MAR-FISH, microautoradiography-fluorescence in situ hybridisation; TAN, total ammoniacal nitrogen; OLR, organic loading rate; VS, volatile solid; COD, chemical oxygen demand; RT-PCR, reverse transcription PCR; *mcrA*, methyl coenzyme-M reductase; T-RFLP, terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism; NanoSIMS, nanometer scale secondary-ion mass spectrometry; ARISA, automated ribosomal intergenic spacer analysis; DIET, direct interspecies electron transfer; UASB, upflow anaerobic sludge blanket.

E-mail addresses: Maria.Westerholm@slu.se (M. Westerholm), Anna.Schnurer@slu.se (J. Moestedt), Jan.Moestedt@tekniskaverken.se (A. Schnürer).

^{0306-2619/© 2016} The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd.

This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

125

main purpose of this review is to facilitate process optimisation through considering the activity and growth of this key microbial community.

© 2016 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND licenses (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction					
2.	Ammonia inhibition					
3.	Syntrophic acetate oxidation					
	3.1. Syntrophic acetate-oxidising bacteria					
	3.1.1. Presence and relative abundance in anaerobic digestion processes					
	3.1.2. Detection of novel syntrophic acetate-oxidising bacteria					
4.	Influence of digester conditions and operating parameters on SAO					
	4.1. Ammonia threshold and microbial adaptation					
	4.2. Temperature and acetate concentration					
	4.3. Influence of the methanogenic community structure					
	4.3.1. Acetoclastic methanogens					
	4.3.2. Hydrogenotrophic methanogens					
5.	Deliberate operating strategies for SAO-mediated processes					
	5.1. Retention time, support material and organic loading					
	5.2. Addition of trace elements and iron oxides					
	5.3. Temperature					
	5.4. Bioaugmentation					
6.	Conclusions					
	Acknowledgements					
	References					

1. Introduction

Along with increased energy efficiency, substitution of fossil fuel-derived energy with renewable sources is crucial in achieving the goal of reduced emissions of anthropogenic greenhouse gases. Biogas produced through anaerobic degradation of organic residues has good potential in climate change mitigation and also involves indirect environmental benefits such as reduced emissions of air pollutants and ammonia. European biogas production is experiencing high growth at the moment [1], increasing the demand for establishment of new production plants, but also process optimisation to increase energy output in existing plants.

Protein-rich substrates are of interest for commercial biogas production due to the relatively high methane yield potential [2,3] and the high level of plant-available ammonium (NH₄⁺-N) in the residue. This residue can be applied to arable land as fertiliser, which reduces the need for production of mineral fertiliser, contributes to recirculation of nutrients and improves soil quality. A high content of ammonium considerably increases the value of the residue and thereby enhances profits for the biogas plant. However, due to the high amounts of ammonium in equilibrium with ammonia, the anaerobic degradation of protein-rich substrates is often associated with process instability, indicated by reduced biogas production and/or methane content, fluctuations in pH and alkalinity, and accumulation of volatile fatty acids (VFA) [4]. Protein-rich substrates are also a common source for formation of sulphide [5,6], which is not only toxic for various microbial populations but also forms complexes with metals, resulting in decreased bioavailability of trace elements essential for microbial activity [7]. However, the positive factors are still strong incentives for commercial biogas plants to operate at high ammonia, resulting in demands for solutions and strategies to handle the associated problems.

Suggested physical and chemical solutions to handle the complications associated with nitrogen-rich material include dilution of substrate, air-stripping, ammonia recovery through integration of a microbial desalination cell and inclusion of material with ion exchange capacity or carbon fibre [3,4,8,9]. Furthermore, the importance of microbial adaptation to high ammonia levels has long been emphasised in the literature [4], indicating the necessity for allowing the microbial community to acclimatise to the prevailing conditions for successful operation. Recent achievements in analyses of pathways for methanisation of acetate, combined with determination of microbial community structure, provide strong indications of a significant contribution of syntrophic acetate oxidation (SAO) to methane formation in high-ammonia processes [2,10–16]. Consequently, operating parameters enhancing the activity and/or growth of key microbial constituents could potentially result in significantly improved process stability and biogas yield. Hence, this review sought to correlate current insights into microbial structures and dynamics, growth conditions of the microorganisms involved and the influence of operating parameters in SAO-mediated processes.

2. Ammonia inhibition

The dominant influence on ammonium-nitrogen concentration in digester sludge is the nitrogen content of the substrate. Organic waste streams originating from animal breeding (slaughterhouse waste, dairy wastewater stream, animal manure, aquaculture sludge) and ethanol fermentation (distiller's waste) are examples of ammonia- and protein-rich substrates commonly used for current biogas production [3–5,17,18]. The nitrogen level in certain food industry and household wastes can also be enough to perturb digester operation [19]. In addition, the level of ammonium-nitrogen is dependent on the degree of decomposition of the process, i.e. the proportion of the organic material converted to methane. A smaller proportion of the organic nitrogen in the substrate is mineralised to ammonium-nitrogen at low compared with higher degree of decomposition, which in turn is dependent on sludge retention time, temperature and the microbial community [20]. Moreover, temperature and pH indirectly affect the level of inhibition, since these parameters regulate the equilibrium between ammonium (NH_4^+) and ammonia (NH_3) in the sludge. As shown in Eq. (1), increased temperature and pH shift the ratio towards NH_3 , which is reported to be the actual cause of microbial inhibition [21].

$$NH_{3}-N = \frac{NH_{4}^{4}-N}{1 + \frac{10^{-PH}}{10^{-(0.09018+2729.92)}}} [21]$$
(1)

In this equation NH_4^+ -N is the total ammonia-nitrogen $(NH_4^+ + NH_3)$ and T is the temperature (kelvin). The impact of increased temperature is further enhanced by the reduced solubility of carbon dioxide, which increases the pH and thereby shifts the equilibrium further towards the toxic ammonia.

Nevertheless, the actual digester response to ammonium depends on the microbial community, which in turn is influenced by inoculum, substrate characteristics and operating parameters. Total and free ammonia concentration, together with temperature, have been identified as the main influencing factors determining bacterial community structure in full-scale anaerobic digesters [22]. The inhibitory effects of ammonia on the microbial consortia are also considered to have a pronounced impact in later stages of degradation, involving the activity of hydrogen/formate-utilising (hydrogenotrophic) or acetate-utilising (acetoclastic) methanogens, where the acetoclastic methanogens (Methanosaeta sp. and certain Methanosarcina sp.) are considered to be most sensitive to ammonia [4]. Since biogas production through anaerobic degradation of organic components demands complex microbial communities, with close interspecies cooperation, the reduced methanogenic activity subsequently influences reaction pathways higher up in the degradation chain [23].

3. Syntrophic acetate oxidation

Conditions resulting in inhibition of acetate-utilising methanogenic communities, such as high concentrations of ammonia, are believed to result in appearance of microbial competitors for acetate and in numerous studies have been suggested to promote the development of SAO [2,6,10,12,14–16,24–38]. The initial step of the sequential SAO reaction involves oxidation of acetate to hydrogen and carbon dioxide and formate by syntrophic acetate-oxidising bacteria (SAOB), followed by consumption of these products by hydrogenotrophic methanogens for the generation of methane.

3.1. Syntrophic acetate-oxidising bacteria

The currently known bacteria capable of syntrophic acetate oxidation are the thermophilic *Thermacetogenium phaeum* [39] and *Pseudothermotoga lettingae* [40,41], the thermotolerant *Tepidanaerobacter acetatoxydans* [42] and the mesophilic *Clostridium ultunense* [43] and *Syntrophaceticus schinkii* [44]. Syntrophic acetate oxidisers are considered slow growers [45], which can be a disadvantage in the competition for acetate with the acetoclastic methanogens. Nevertheless, hydrogenotrophic methanogens [46] and a majority of the SAOB possess relatively high ammonia tolerance [42– 44,47,48], a feature that probably provides them with a competitive advantage in ammonia-stressed systems.

3.1.1. Presence and relative abundance in anaerobic digestion processes

Genes affiliated to known SAOB have been detected in digesters operating under diverse conditions in terms of ammonia concen-



Fig. 1. The Wood–Ljungdahl pathway (also called the Acetyl-CoA pathway). The pathway comprises two branches, the methyl and the carbonyl branch, and involves a series of reactions resulting in the reduction of two carbon dioxide molecules and the final production of acetate. During the process no net ATP is formed and energy production is dependent on chemiosmotic processes coupled to the translocation of protons or sodium ions [64].

tration, temperature, hydraulic retention time (HRT), substrate feed and digester configuration [11-13,16,17,29,49-61]. On correlating the SAOB gene abundance obtained in the different anaerobic digesters, the levels appear to be interrelated depending on the prevalent acetate degradation pathway. In mesophilic, highammonia digesters with syntrophic acetate oxidation as the key pathway, species-specific quantitative PCR (qPCR) analyses have determined the abundances of genes affiliated to C. ultunense, S. schinkii and T. acetatoxydans to range between 10⁶⁻¹¹, 10⁶⁻⁹ and 10⁴⁻¹⁰ per mL, respectively. The corresponding levels in digesters operating at low ammonia and dominated by the acetoclastic pathway are 10^{5-7} for S. schinkii, whereas C. ultunense and T. acetatoxydans levels vary from below threshold up to 10⁵ and 10³, respectively [6,11-13,16,57]. However, it is noteworthy that the levels of these syntrophic bacteria are relatively low in comparison with the total bacterial gene abundance, despite confirmation of SAO-mediated acetate degradation. In mesophilic digesters, 0–0.04%, 0–7.0% and 0–3.0% of total bacteria community has been shown to be represented by C. ultunense, S. schinkii and T. acetatoxydans, respectively [11,13,16]. In thermophilic digesters, both similar (0–0.7%) [13] and higher relative levels [52] have been

reported. In the study with higher relative levels, 0.8–19% of the total analysed sequences were allocated to the genome of a defined syntrophic acetate oxidiser (based on 97% maximum identity) [52].

3.1.2. Detection of novel syntrophic acetate-oxidising bacteria

Distant relatedness based on the 16S ribosomal RNA gene and the strict requirements of current cultivation techniques have constrained the detection and characterisation of novel SAOB. Approaches based on targeting functional genes hold promise for identification of key players in SAO and assessment of the link between function and microbiology. The majority of the characterised SAOB have been positioned in the physiological group of homoacetogens, which is defined by use of the Wood-Ljungdahl pathway during growth on autotrophic and/or heterotrophic substrates and production of mainly acetate [62,63]. In this acetogenic pathway, formyl tetrahydrofolate synthetase (FTHFS) is a key enzyme catalysing the ATP-dependent activation of formate (Fig. 1).

For syntrophic functioning, SAOB have been postulated to reverse the Wood-Ljungdahl pathway for oxidation of acetate [62,63]. However, the SAOB P. lettingae does not use the Wood-Ljungdahl pathway [45] and recently an additional pathway for acetate oxidation, combining the methyl branch of the Wood-Ljungdahl pathway with a glycine cleavage system, have been suggested [65]. However, irrespective of pathway, all SAOB have been shown to access at least one and sometimes two FTHFS genes, implying that *fhs* (gene encoding FTHFS) profiling is suitable for delineation of populations expressing SAOB capabilities. Profiling of acetogenic communities in anaerobic digesters has revealed shifts in the acetogenic community, concurrently with ammoniainduced introduction of SAO in mesophilic anaerobic digesters [66] and has identified potential acetate-oxidising syntrophs in thermophilic SAO cultures [67]. Recently designed primers, expanding the recovery of *fhs* genes and including targeting of known syntrophic acetate oxidisers [63,68], retrieved fhs gene sequences from various biogas digesters that formed distinct phylogenetic clusters. Only a few genotypes were shared with previous findings in other anaerobic environments (e.g. rumen, termite gut, horse manure) [16,68,69]. Correlation between high abundance of fhs genes with members of the order Clostridiales and Thermoanaerobacterales and ammonia-induced SAO dominance further reinforced the importance of the acetogenic bacteria represented and promotes their position as potential acetate-oxidising syntrophs [68]. Through a metagenome sequencing approach and identification of genes encoding enzymes involved in the Wood-Ljungdahl pathway, Zakrzewski and co-authors [70] suggested a syntrophic association between an unknown Thermacetogenium species and Methanothermobacter thermautotrophicus. Sequences assigned to the phylum Thermotogae and the genus Clostridium were also found in the study and suggested to be involved in SAO. In another recent study, genes encoding enzymes involved in the Wood-Ljungdahl pathway were analysed in mesophilic digesters with gradually increased contribution of SAO from 5% to 25% [15]. Nucleic acid-based stable carbon isotopic probing (DNA-SIP) of enrichment cultures from the digesters was another approach used in that study to reveal distinctive bacterial communities for this syntrophic function. However, appearance of keystone bacterial populations responsible for SAO was not detected, leading the authors to question whether syntrophic acetate oxidation is the work of a defined species and suggest that a diverse array of bacterial taxa within dynamic heterogeneous communities may instead be responsible for the syntrophic reaction.

Acetate utilisation by *Synergistes* group 4 has been demonstrated by the microautoradiography-fluorescence in situ hybridisation (MAR-FISH) technique with ¹⁴C-acetate. This *Synergistes* group was suggested to mediate acetate conversion through SAO

and was shown to have competitive advantages over Methanosaeta at high acetate concentrations (2.5–10 mM) [71]. By incubating a sample from a full-scale biogas plant with [U-¹³C]acetate, followed by mapping of expressed and labelled proteins onto a binned metagenome Mosbaek et al. [72] recently suggested that Methanosarcina, Methanoculleus and five subspecies of Clostridia were actively involved in SAO. Other studies have proposed possible new SAOB due to changed abundances in response to altered environmental conditions in enrichment cultivations. Yamada and coauthors [73] observed dominance of bacteria with high identity to Tepidanaerobacter syntrophicus and Coprothermobacter proteolyticus in thermophilic acetate enrichments. The cultures had been supplemented with conductive iron oxide particles with the prospect of facilitating electric syntrophy in the methanogenesis of acetate. In another study, stable carbon isotopic analysis combined with pyrosequencing indicated that *Coprothermobacter* spp. was the main acetate degrader in syntrophic association with hydrogenotrophic Methanothermobacter in a high-rate (HRT of 2-4 days) and high temperature (65 °C) anaerobic digester [74]. Increased abundance of Spirochaetes has been observed in acetate-fed batch cultivations and it is suggested as a potential SAOB candidate [75]. Bassani and co-authors [76] recently conducted a study of a two-stage system where external H₂ was added to the second digester in order to increase the proportion of methane in the biogas. An increase in hydrogenotrophic methanogens within the Methanoculleus genus was noted in the hydrogensupplemented digester, concurrently with a rise in Thermoanaerobacteraceae, which were therefore proposed to be involved in SAO.

To conclude, the limited number of isolates characterised restricts research about syntrophic communities and their interaction with the ambient microbial society and responses to environmental parameters. In addition to further isolations, a prerequisite for increased knowledge is the detection of novel SAOB in the complex digester environment. We believe that approaches targeting the *fhs* gene or DNA-SIP are promising techniques in this regard.

4. Influence of digester conditions and operating parameters on SAO

4.1. Ammonia threshold and microbial adaptation

Ammonia-induced perturbation of anaerobic laboratory-scale digesters often appears concurrently with increased loading of ammonia-rich organic substrate, which complicates the distinction between overload and ammonia as the cause of digester upset. However, disturbance of anaerobic degradation at equivalent ammonia levels, irrespective of the organic loading rate, was recently demonstrated [69]. Thus, here we consider the ammonia level as the main cause of digester instability, neglecting the impact of disparity of applied organic loads between the studies reviewed.

Digester disturbance, reflected by increased VFA concentrations and reduced gas production rate and methane yield, has been observed at levels exceeding $0.08-0.2 \text{ g NH}_3$ -N/L at $25-30 \degree$ C $(4.1-5.7 \text{ g NH}_4^4-\text{N/L}, \text{ pH } 7.5-7.8) [77,78]$, and $0.2-0.4 \text{ g NH}_3-\text{N/L}$ at $35-38 \degree$ C $(3.0-5.2 \text{ g NH}_4^4-\text{N/L}, \text{ pH } 7.6-7.9) [10,12,79,80]$. At elevated temperature ($51-64 \degree$ C, pH 7.4-7.9), digester inhibition has been concluded to commence at $0.6-1.5 \text{ g NH}_3-\text{N/L}$ (2.5-11 gNH $_4^4-\text{N/L}$) [4,81] (calculations of ammonia or total ammonia were performed using Eq. (1) when required). However, digesters with ammonia-adapted microbial communities can still maintain operation at high ammonia concentrations. This adaptation has long been attributed to the methanogenic community, substantiated by observations of internal changes in dominant species and community shifts correlated to increased ammonia levels [4]. However, the numerous recent examinations of ammonia-stressed microbiomes highlighted in the previous section indicate that microbial ammonia adaptation should be complemented with development of a microbial community directing acetate conversion to methane through SAO. Our hypothesis is that a period of adaptation permits growth and establishment of the ammonia-tolerant SAOB and hydrogenotrophic methanogens able to remain active even under the high-ammonia conditions preceding the threshold for inhibition. Microbial community analyses of mesophilic processes, combined with determination of methane production pathway, indicate that the digester disturbance at ammonia levels exceeding 0.15 g NH₃-N/L can be a response to an ammonia-induced shift from acetoclastic methanogenesis to SAO and increased abundance of SAOB [11,12,68]. These studies, along with many others [13.16.18.25.35.82-84] have also shown dominance of the hydrogenotrophic pathway and/or high levels of hydrogenotrophic methanogens in correlation to high ammonia levels. Based on the results from several of these studies, the threshold for development of SAO as the dominant pathway for acetate conversion would probably be around 0.14-0.28 g NH₃-N/L at 37-38 °C (3.0-3.3 g NH⁺₄-N/L, pH 7.5–8). To our knowledge, the actual threshold for a shift in pathway for acetate conversion in thermophilic methanogenic digesters has not yet been determined. However, in a defined thermophilic culture the shift from acetoclastic methanogenesis to SAO occurred at 0.03-0.05 g NH₃-N/L (0.7-1.4 g NH₄⁺-N/L, pH 7.0, 55 °C) [48]. Screening analyses of industrial biogas processes have revealed similar ammonia levels (>0.14 g NH₃-N/L) for dominance of the SAO pathway at mesophilic temperatures, whereas in thermophilic conditions SAO is the main mechanism for acetate conversion at ≥ 0.24 g NH₃-N/L (≥ 2.0 g NH₄⁺-N/L) [2,13].

Within this context, the issue regarding eventual existence of an upper ammonia threshold for the functioning of an already ammonia-adapted process should be addressed. Several studies have reported a severe decrease in digester function and subsequent process failure of ammonia-adapted digesters at levels above 0.5-1.1 g NH₃-N/L (9.2-11.1 g NH₄⁺-N/L, pH 7.1-7.8, 37-38 °C) [4,12,69,80]. Similarly to the first appearance of ammoniainduced digester disruption, this wide span most likely arises from differences in substrate composition, digester design and operating parameters, such as HRT and temperature [4]. As with the ammonia levels speculated to induce SAO, the diverse ammonia thresholds for severe inhibition could have a biological cause and could depend on the possibility for acclimatisation of the prevailing microbial community, or on the inoculum composition. However, the frequent dominance of SAO in digesters operating at and around the ammonia thresholds considered here clearly demonstrates the high ammonia tolerance of the syntrophic species and further indicates the importance of the activity of SAO populations and their interaction with the remaining anaerobic community for the functioning of the high-ammonia process.

It is conceivable that the actual ammonia level also affects SAO community structure. Ammonia-induced introduction of SAO and a concurrent shift in putative acetogenic community has namely been shown to be succeeded by a second alteration in community structure after a continuing rise in ammonia during anaerobic degradation [66,68]. Hypothetically, these dynamics could reflect microbial adaptations allowing SAO populations with higher ammonia tolerance to become dominant and thereby continue processing organic material despite the high ammonia levels.

4.2. Temperature and acetate concentration

Theoretically, SAO becomes energetically favourable at elevated temperature and acetate concentration [85]. Accordingly, SAO has

appeared as the dominant pathway in a large number of thermophilic methanogenic systems (Table 1), supporting the hypothesis that higher temperature directly enhances the competitiveness of SAO relative to the acetoclastic pathway. In addition, temperature has a strong influence on the hydrogenotrophic methanogenic community structure [6,16,25,86–89], which in turn could affect the conditions for SAO. Another impact factor could of course be the temperature-induced increase in the NH₃ ratio, causing the level to exceed the ammonia threshold for increased contribution of the syntrophic pathway.

Dominance of SAO and presence of known SAOB in highammonia digesters operating within the mesophilic regime are frequently associated with elevated levels of acetate and propionate [10–13,27,57,106]. A possible source is direct ammonia inhibition of acetate- and propionate-degrading microorganisms, although to our knowledge the impact of ammonia specifically on syntrophic propionate communities has not been investigated to date. Another aspect is conceivably lower acetate conversion efficiency by SAO communities compared with the acetoclastic methanogens [45,106]. Accumulation of acetate could subsequently result in potential decreased propionate conversion rates [107], since the degradation of propionate follows the route of formation of acetate, carbon dioxide and hydrogen.

There is conflicting information about the influence of acetate concentration on the dominance of acetoclastic methanogenesis relative to the SAO pathway in complex microbial communities. Here, several different factors such as presence and structure of other acetate-degrading populations, the strains participating in SAO and the prevailing operating conditions, other than acetate, probably have a strong influence. Furthermore, SAO communities might employ a similar strategy to acetoclastic methanogens as regards acetate levels, i.e. with different types of microorganisms occupying unique niches based on diversified substrate affinity and growth rate. This theory is supported by genome-based analyses of *T. acetatoxydans* indicating a passive rather than an active acetate uptake system [108]. This species would consequently be favoured by high acetate concentrations, whereas the SAOB S. schinkii and T. phaeum, which most likely have active acetate uptake [109,110], could maintain activity at lower acetate concentrations. Increasing acetate concentrations has indeed been shown to stimulate growth (methane formation rate) in laboratory cultivation of defined syntrophic acetate-oxidising cultures at 30-46 °C. A requirement for a relatively high concentration of acetate (>25 mM) for methane formation has also been observed in defined microbial populations in a controlled environment [111].

In thermophilic continuous anaerobic digesters or in batch assays, SAO has been proposed as the predominant acetate degradation pathway at low acetate levels (0.2–1 mM) [94,112–114]. However favouring of SAO by high acetate concentrations (4-100 mM) has also been suggested [96,98,101]. In another batch study at thermophilic conditions, the syntrophic pathway was shown to dominate during incubation with initial acetate concentration of 250 mM and 6-7 g NH₄⁺-N/L (0.09-2.67 g NH₃-N/L at 55 °C and pH 6.6-8.2), whereas the degradation was directed through acetoclastic methanogenesis at lower initial acetate levels (50 mM) [14]. The same research group also reported dominance of acetoclastic methanogenesis at acetate >1 mM and SAO at lower acetate levels [115]. The impact of acetate concentration on the conversion pathway in mesophilic temperature conditions has been less well examined. However, in long-term acetate-fed chemostats (ammonia level not specified) SAO dominated when 0.2 mM acetate was added, whereas acetoclastic conversion was detected when the digester was fed with 4 mM acetate [90]. Nevertheless, SAO has been proven to be the determinative metabolic pathway in semi-continuous mesophilic (37–44 °C) digesters with acetate concentrations ranging from >0.1 to 100 mM [10,12,16,57].

Table 1

Operating conditions and molecular investigations of anaerobic digesters (laboratory- or industrial-scale) and batch/enrichment cultures dominated by syntrophic acetate oxidation (SAO), verified by labelling experiments.^a

Biological system ^b	Ammonia g NH ₃ -N/L (g NH ₄ -N/L) ^c	Operating parameters/experimental set-up ^d	Microbial community investigation ^e	
Mesophilic				
LS-CF	n/a	37 °C, pH 7 Acet: 0.01 g/L Dilution rate: 0.025/day	Quantitative RT-PCR of mcrA transcripts	[90]
IS-CF	4-5.6 g N/L	37–38 °C, pH n/a VFA: 1.8–2.7 g/L HBT: 20–25 days	FISH analyses of methanogens	[91]
LS-CF	0.6–1.0 (5.5–6.9)	37 °C, pH 7.9–8.0 VFA: 18–30 g/L HRT: 30 days OLR: 3 σ VS/(1 day)	qPCR analyses of methanogens and characterised SAOB, T-RFLP and clone library analyses of acetogenic communities (<i>fhs</i> gene), illumina amplicon sequencing of bacterial 16S rRNA genes	[11,68]
Batch	n/a	37 °C, pH 7.2–7.4 HRT: 30 days	MAR-FISH with ¹⁴ C-acetate, RNA-SIP with ¹³ C ₆ -glucose and ¹³ C ₃ -propionate to identify and quantify acetate-utilising communities	[71]
LS-CF	0.07–0.5 (1.5–11)	37 °C, pH 6.5–7.8 Acet: <0.1–16 g/L, prop: <0.1–10 HRT: 26–57 days OLR: 0.8–3.6 g VS/(L day)	qPCR analyses of methanogens and characterised SAOB	[12]
LS-CF with/without TE	0.3-0.5 (3.6)	37 °C, pH 7.9–8.1 Acet: 0.6–3.5 g/L HRT: 30 days OLR: 1.8–2.5 g VS/(L day)	qPCR analyses of methanogens and characterised SAOB	[57]
Batch	n/a	38 °C, pH 8.1 Acetate: 0.7 g/L		[92]
IS-CF	0.2–0.5 (3.3–4.9)	36–40 °C, pH 7.6–8.0 VFA: 3–13 g/L	qPCR analyses of methanogens and characterised SAOB	[13]
IS-CF	0.3–0.4 (2.9-4.6)	37–38 °C, pH 7.9 VFA: 0.6–0.8 g/L	FISH analyses of methanogens	[2]
LS-CF	0.2–0.3 (4.2–5.2)	35 °C, pH 7.5 VFA: 1 g/L OLR 2.2 g VS/(L day) 16-25% SAO contribution	Shotgun sequencing, DNA-SIP with ¹³ C-acetate and FISH-NanoSIMS analyses of bacterial communities	[15]
LS-CF with/ without TE	0.4–1.5 (5.4–5.8)	37–42 °C, pH 7.9–8.1 Acet: <0.1–3.4 g/L, prop: <0.1–6.3 g/L HRT: 30 days	qPCR analyses of methanogens and characterised SAOB, T-RFLP and/or clone library analyses of bacterial (16S rRNA), acetogenic (<i>fhs gene</i>) and methanogenic (<i>mcrA</i> gene) communities	[16]
IS-CF	0.4-1.5 (2.4-4.2)	37–40 °C, pH 7.7–8.2 Acet: 0.3–0.5 g/L, prop: 0.005–0.02 g/L HRT: 21–32 days	Illumina amplicon sequencing of bacterial and archaeal 16S rRNA genes	[18]
<i>Thermophilic</i> Acetate enrichment	n/a	60 °C, pH 6.5-6.8		[93]
Acetate chemostat		Acet: 3 g/L 60 °C, pH 6.5–6.8	Microscopic examinations	[94]
IS-CF	2.2–2.6 g N/L	52–55°C, pH n/a VFA: 0.2–0.8 g/L HRT: 15–25 days	FISH analyses of methanogens	[91]
Batch Batch	n/a n/a	55 °C, pH ~ 7 55 °C, pH 6.8–7.8		[95] [96]
LS-CF	n/a	Ace:. 6 g/L DM 55 °C, pH 7.2 Acet: 0.1 g/L, prop: 0.07 g/L HRT: 4 days OLR 6.25 gCODct/(L day)	Clone libraries and sequencing of bacterial and archaeal 16S rRNA genes	[50]
Batch	n/a	55 °C, initial pH 5.5 Acet: 6 g/L BM	qPCR analyses of methanogenic (16S rRNA) and acetogenic (<i>acsB</i> and <i>fhs</i> genes) communities	[97]
Batch	n/a	55 °C, pH > 7.5 Acet: 9–12 g/L BM	ARISA of archaeal and bacterial communities; qPCR analyses of acetogens (<i>acsB</i> and <i>fhs</i> genes)	[98]
LS-CF	0.7–1.0	55 °C, pH 6.7–7.0 Acet: 0.07–0.30 g/L COD, prop: 0.01–0.14 g/L COD HRT: 2–4 days	FISH analyses and 16S rRNA gene pyrosequencing of bacterial and methanogenic communities	[99]
Batch	0.06 (1)	53 °C, pH 7.3 Acet: 1 g/L BM	FISH analyses of archaeal community	[100]
Batch	0.09–2.7 (6–7)	55 °C, pH 6.6–8.2 Acet: 15 g/L	qPCR analyses of methanogens	[14]
IS-CF	0.2–0.8 (2.0–3.2)	48–55°C, pH 7.7–8.1 VFA: 1.9–3.8 g/L HRT: 20–101 days OLR: 2.5–3.5 g VS/(L day)	qPCR analyses of methanogens and characterised SAOB	[13]

Table 1 (continued)

Biological system ^b	Ammonia g NH ₃ -N/L	Operating parameters/experimental set-up ^d	Microbial community investigation ^e	
	$(g INH_4 - IN/L)$			
IS-CF	0.5 (2.0–2.4)	52–55 °C, pH 7.9–8.0 VFA: 0.9–1.8 g/L	FISH analyses of methanogens	[2]
LS-CF	0.7-1.0 g NH ₄ ⁺ /L	55–65 °C, pH 6.7–7.1 Acet: 0.06–2.1 g COD/L, prop: 0.04–0.6 g COD/L HRT: 2–4 days	454 pyrosequencing of bacterial and archaeal 16S rRNA genes	[74]
Batch	TAN 1.8 g/L	52 °C, pH 7.7 Acetate: 0.2–6 g/L	Proteome analyses	[101]
IS-CF	2.2-3.4 (0.7-1.5)	50–53 °C, pH 8.0–8.4 Acet: 0.05–1.6 g/L, prop: 0.01–0.2 g/L HRT: 3–15 days	Illumina amplicon sequencing of bacterial and archaeal 16S rRNA genes	[18]

n/a indicates not available.

^a The following articles also proposed SAO as likely acetate degradation pathway but did not confirm dominance with labelling experiments [3,6,25,27-35,37,38,72,86,102-105].

^b LS-CF laboratory-scale (semi) continuously fed digesters; IS-CF industrial-scale continuously fed digesters; TE addition of trace element mixture including iron.

^c TAN total ammoniacal nitrogen.

^d Acet – Acetate; VFA – volatile fatty acids; HRT – hydraulic retention time; OLR – organic loading rate; VS – volatile solid; COD – chemical oxygen demand; prop – propionate; BM – incubation in basal medium containing trace elements and vitamins.

^e RT-PCR – reverse transcription PCR; *mcrA* – methyl coenzyme-M reductase; FISH – fluorescence in situ hybridization; qPCR – quantitative PCR; SAOB – syntrophic acetate oxidising bacteria; T-RFLP – terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism; *fhs* – gene encoding formyltetrahydrofolate synthetase; MAR-FISH – microautoradiography FISH; DNA-SIP – DNA stable carbon isotopic probing; NanoSIMS – nanometer scale secondary-ion mass spectrometry; *acsB* – gene encoding acetyl-CoA synthase; ARISA – automated ribosomal intergenic spacer analysis.

These results contradict acetate concentration as a determinative factor for SAO dominance in continuous anaerobic digesters. A mutual operating mode for the digesters studied was instead high ammonia level (>0.3 g NH₃-N/L), emphasising the strong influence of this parameter on the development of SAO. However, with regard to the influence of acetate concentration, it is important to bear in mind that even during nonappearance of acetate accumulation, the acetate formation rate can still be high within the anaerobic degradation process, as long as it does not exceed the consumption rate.

4.3. Influence of the methanogenic community structure

Syntrophic microorganisms strictly depend on the structure and activity of the methanogenic community and its efficiency in removal of hydrogen and/or formate [23]. Another potentially crucial impact factor is the competition for acetate exerted by the acetoclastic methanogens. Consequently, since parameters such as ammonia inhibition, temperature and acetate concentration strongly influence the methanogenic community structure, there is potentially an additional indirect effect on SAOB.

4.3.1. Acetoclastic methanogens

Methanosarcina generally exhibits higher growth rate but requires acetate concentrations above 1 mM, whereas *Methanosaeta* species typically dominate below that range, due to their higher affinity for acetate [116,117]. *Methanosaeta* sp. have low tolerance to specific inhibitors such as fluoroacetate and methyl fluoride, but also to free ammonia and high pH, possibly due to their restricted metabolic capability to use only the acetoclastic pathway [116]. Consequently, inhibitors for the acetoclastic methanogens most likely induce replacement of *Methanosaeta* with SAOB as the main acetate consumers in methanogenic systems. A further indication of this is that the level of *Methanosaeta* has been shown to be negatively correlated to high ammonia concentrations and dominance of SAO in biogas digesters [13,91].

The link between *Methanosarcina* and SAO is somewhat complicated. This methanogenic group can possibly act as a hydrogen scavenger [116] and their presence has been frequently reported at relatively high levels in investigations of several SAOdominated processes and occasionally at relatively high ammonia levels [6,11,12,16,29,50,57,73,91,96]. In thermophilic batch cultivations *Methanosarcina* has actually been demonstrated to be able to catalyse acetoclastic methanogenesis even under high ammonia stress [115]. However, possible acetoclastic activity in long-term, continuously operating systems requires further research. In large-scale industrial digesters, the abundance of *Methanosarcinaceae* has been found to be negatively correlated with total ammonia concentration [22] and SAO dominance [13]. Another theory explaining the high abundance of *Methanosarcina* species in SAO-dominated systems is that they are able to mediate the entire process, i.e. both acetate oxidation and subsequent methanogenesis [57,91].

Interestingly, *Methanosaeta* and *Methanosarcina* have recently been demonstrated to accept electrons via direct interspecies electron transfer (DIET) in reduction of carbon dioxide to methane [118,119], which raises the possibility that SAO does not exclusively proceed via diffusion of electron carriers (hydrogen and formate) and that *Methanosaeta* could also be involved in SAO.

4.3.2. Hydrogenotrophic methanogens

A critical trait of a partner methanogen is the ability to maintain a sufficiently low hydrogen or formate concentration to make bacterial acetate oxidation thermodynamically feasible. The hydrogen partial pressure is thereby restrained within a low, narrow range [85], which has been and experimentally determined to range between 10–50 Pa [120,121] and 1.6–6.8 Pa [122] in thermophilic and mesophilic conditions, respectively. The acceptance of higher H₂ partial pressure for the implementation of SAO under thermophilic temperatures hypothetically includes Methanosarcina species as possible hydrogenotrophic partners at these higher temperatures. Certain species belonging to the mixotrophic Methanosarcina are able to reduce the H_2 partial pressure to >10 Pa. Methanogens more specifically specialised to use H₂ and CO₂ for growth cease oxidation of H₂ at slightly lower partial pressures, around 1–10 Pa [123], which is required for SAO at lower temperatures. Under pure culture conditions the methanogenic partners identified for SAO in thermophilic conditions have so far included Methanobacterium sp. and M. thermautotrophicus [39,40,121]. In thermophilic SAO digesters, Methanomicrobiales and Methanobacteriales (Methanothermobacter) are reported to be the dominant hydrogenotrophic methanogens [2,50,74,98]. Methanomicrobiales

and *Methanobacteriales* are likewise highly abundant in mesophilic SAO-dominated digesters [2,15]. In particular, *Methanoculleus* species [27,90] and *Methanoculleus bourgensis* have been emphasised as possible methanogenic partners in mesophilic SAO digesters [12,16,69,106]. *M. bourgensis* is reported to be the partner methanogen in SAO under pure co-cultivation in mesophilic conditions [42–44]. Adequate ammonia tolerance combined with high affinity for hydrogen may be the cause of *M. bourgensis* dominance in such conditions [124].

5. Deliberate operating strategies for SAO-mediated processes

The following section present examples of studies examining the impact of operating parameters, such as retention time, temperature, addition of trace elements and bioaugmentation, on syntrophic community structure and on the performance of SAOmediated anaerobic digestion. The objective is to promote process optimisation through considering the activity and growth of this key microbial community.

5.1. Retention time, support material and organic loading

To avoid washout of the consortium, the operating solid retention time is recommended to exceed the microbial doubling time, which is worth considering in processes where methane formation is directed through SAO. The doubling time of acetoclastic methanogens, experimentally determined to be about 8–36 h and 1–9 days for *Methanosarcina* and *Methanosaeta*, respectively [125], can be compared with the 28 days obtained in cultivation of defined syntrophic acetate oxidising co-culture at 37 °C (initial acetate concentration 50 mM) [122]. Thermophilic SAO cultures have, however, displayed shorter doubling times of around 1.3–3 days (55–60 °C; initial acetate concentration 40–80 mM) [45], which indicates that the growth rate of certain SAO cultures could exceed the growth rate of *Methanosaeta*.

Increased HRT and immobilisation of microorganisms are proposed preventative actions against ammonia inhibition [3,4]. Accordingly, the relatively slow growth of the syntrophic cocultures indicates that, in certain conditions, this would probably increase the prospects for establishment of the syntrophic microbes. However, there is a wide disparity in HRT in digesters in which SAOB have been detected. Species taxonomically related to S. schinkii have been observed in continuous biogas digesters operating at HRT ranging from 17 to 130 days, whereas C. ultunense, T. acetatoxydans and P. lettingae have been detected at HRT between 24-64, 24-101 and 40-60 days, respectively [6,11-13,1 6,17,51,55,57]. Bacteria related to C. ultunense, T. phaeum and S. schinkii have also been detected in the methane-producing digester of a two-stage system operating with a retention time of 8 days [29]. In thermophilic conditions (55 °C) and at low ammonia levels, successful operation of a SAO-dominated process may even be achievable at HRT down to 3 days [99]. Inclusion of support material or the formation of granular sludge, flocks or biofilms most likely support SAOB, since they can survive in the digester despite slow growth, but also since the distance between the bacteria and the hydrogen-consuming methanogen is reduced, which facilitates interspecies hydrogen transfer [108] or possibly DIET [126]. Accordingly, T. phaeum has been identified in a thermophilic upflow anaerobic filter reactor and biofilms with HRT of 1.6-21 days [49,53]. Overall, however, although HRT may be a decisive factor for development of SAO, other operating parameters such as digester configuration (e.g. recycling of digester sludge, presence of support material) and environmental conditions (e.g. ammonia concentrations and temperature) probably also have an influence. The organic loading rate (OLR) is another important operating parameter in this context. OLR is known to impact on acetoclastic methanogenic structure [6,15,27,69,116], which possibly alters the conditions for SAO. OLR has also been revealed to influence the acetogenic community structure and population abundances, including that of potential SAOB, in biogas digesters operating under high ammonia and mesophilic conditions [69]. This suggests that operating parameters such as OLR influence the ability of different populations to grow and remain active within the anaerobic system. Consequently, promotion of highly efficient SAO populations could enable management to optimise biogas production (such as increased loading rate) even in high-ammonia digesters.

5.2. Addition of trace elements and iron oxides

In addition to high ammonia concentrations, the degradation of protein-rich substrates can also result in prevalence of high sulphide levels, which cause formation of metal-sulphide precipitates and thereby decrease the bioavailability of essential trace elements [7]. Addition of trace elements may therefore be considered exceptionally beneficial in the anaerobic degradation of protein-rich materials. Inclusion of iron in the trace element additive may also enhance the positive effects, since sulphide precipitation of trace metals is constrained, due to the primary removal of sulphide by the iron [3,7]. Furthermore, presence of conductive iron oxides (e.g. magnetite and hematite) has been shown to accelerate syntrophic oxidation of acetate and propionate to methane in methanogenic sludge [73,127,128]. This suggests that supplementation with iron particles may be an interesting approach for possible acceleration of VFA degradation and performance improvements in high-ammonia digesters.

Addition of trace elements to high-ammonia mesophilic digesters (>3.0 g NH₄⁺-N/L; 0.14 g NH₃-N/L at 35–37 °C), dominated [16,57], or indicatively dominated [19] by the SAO pathway has been shown to substantially increase methane yield and restrict VFA accumulation. The level and composition of the trace element additive required for process optimisation depend on substrate and operating conditions. However, in high-ammonia, and therefore most likely SAO-dominated, industrial commercial biogas production systems, sufficient bioavailability of cobalt (0.5 mg/L) and nickel (0.2 mg/L) has been proven to be highly important for good performance of the processes [129]. Ortner et al. [130] suggested considerably higher levels of bioavailable cobalt (15.7 mg/L) and nickel (7.1 mg/L), combined with molybdenum (3.2 mg/L) for optimum process performance. However, using such high levels would obstruct the use of the digestion residue as a fertiliser on arable land.

Surprisingly, quantitative analyses have demonstrated comparable [57] or lower abundance [16] of known SAOB in digesters with a trace element additive, despite persistent dominance of SAO. In Karlsson et al. [57], Methanosarcinales was found to be the methanogenic group most favoured by trace element addition. Banks et al. [19] observed high abundance of Methanomicrobiales in high-ammonia digesters whether trace element was added or not. In Westerholm et al. [16], a methanogenic community characterised by a high proportion of *M. bourgensis*, with high population richness, was suggested as a resilient promoter for the enhanced performance of the digester receiving a trace element additive. The high hydrogen affinity of M. bourgensis have been mentioned previously in this review and comparable lower hydrogen partial pressure was also revealed in the high-performing trace element supplemented digester [16]. Interestingly, the response within the *M. bourgensis* structure has been shown to differ depending on the composition of the trace element additive [131]. Since low hydrogen level is of particular importance in SAO-mediated anaerobic degradation, a change in hydrogen-utilising community structure, and thereby the prevailed hydrogen partial pressure, could possibly have a major impact in such systems.

5.3. Temperature

Elevated temperature extends the window of opportunity of SAO, meaning that the level of hydrogen or formate does not need to be reduced as much as is required at lower temperature. Consequently, methanogenic communities that remove hydrogen/formate less efficiently can act as SAO methanogenic partner. Hypothetically, such communities could exhibit higher growth rates and consequently allow operation at shorter HRT without digester disturbance compared with the methanogenic communities prevailing in mesophilic systems. Nevertheless, since higher temperature increases the proportion of NH₂, thermophilic digesters commonly allow operation at lower loads of nitrogencontaining materials, compared with mesophilic digesters. For that reason, several Swedish commercial biogas plants have reduced the operating temperature from 55 to 52 °C in order to enable functional operation (Malmros P., Uppsala Vatten AB and Moestedt, J., Tekniska Verken AB, personal communications).

Within the thermophilic spectrum, increasing the temperature from 55 °C to 65 °C has been shown to increase the contribution of methane generation via SAO from 60% to 100% [74]. Digester operation at somewhat enhanced mesophilic temperature of around 42–44 °C, with the aim of accelerating acetate conversion without excessively enhancing the ammonia ratio, suggests potential for improved functionality of SAO-dominated processes. This has proven to be a management strategy with a positive impact on high-ammonia digester performance (12% increased methane yield) during degradation of sulphur- and nitrogen-rich thin stillage [6]. In contrast, processing household waste in co-digestion with albumin at high ammonia at 42 °C instead of 37 °C had no, or even a negative, impact on performance of SAO digesters, operating with or without trace element addition [16].

5.4. Bioaugmentation

Continuous bioaugmentation of a natural mesophilic biogasproducing consortium by a defined SAO culture, comprising C. ultunense, S. schinkii and T. acetatoxydans and the hydrogenotrophic M. bourgensis sp. MAB1 has been assessed as a possible method to accelerate the adaptation period to gradually increasing ammonia levels [12]. Bioaugmentation had no significant effect on the abundance of S. schinkii, whereas elevated levels of C. ultunense and T. acetatoxydans were observed. However, the endogenous SAOB community rapidly increased in abundance in association with a shift from acetoclastic to acetate-oxidation (at >0.2 g NH₃-N/L), in the control digesters without bioaugmentation. Consequently, under the conditions studied, the abundance of SAOB did not appear intermediate for development of SAO as the dominant pathway for methane formation. Instead, this result indicates strong dependence on certain operating condition(s), most likely high ammonia concentration, high acetate concentration and/or the methanogenic community structure, for the dynamic transition to SAO, with concurrent increased abundance of the microorganisms involved [12]. In another study, bioaugmentation with C. ultunense and M. bourgensis sp. MAB1 was reported to have no observable impact on the microbial community or the function of a mesophilic, high-ammonia upflow anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB) reactor [132]. Instead, addition of a pure methanogenic culture (*M. bourgensis*, strain MS2^T) has been proposed to successfully enhance methane yield and increase the abundance of this species in an ammonia-stressed continuous biogas digester [133]. This provides additional evidence of the importance of *M. bourgensis* (discussed in the previous section) for optimised performance of SAO-dominated mesophilic processes.

6. Conclusions

The current intense discussion about global warming emphasises the need for efficient production of renewable energy. The formation of biogas from protein-rich biological material is advantageous in several regards, but the issues related to ammonia inhibition demand deliberated process operating strategies. High ammonia level directs the methanisation of acetate through the SAO pathway and ammonia-induced adaption of the biogasproducing consortium has been shown to involve dynamically changing microbial communities (including SAOB, acetogens and methanogens). A well-adapted process can cope with substantially higher ammonia levels than an unadapted process, an effect most likely associated with the capacity for development of an ammonia-tolerant microbial community that efficiently degrades acetate through the syntrophic pathway. Besides high ammonia level, acetate concentration, temperature and methanogenic community structure are also factors believed to shape and influence SAO-mediated microbial ecosystems.

Commercial biogas production may sometimes be on the border of economic feasibility and improved biogas yield, stabilisation of digester operation and increased value of the residual product would considerably increase interest in construction of commercial biogas plants. HRT, addition of trace elements, temperature and bioaugmentation are operating parameters that have been researched as strategies to improve the SAO process. Acetate conversion, mainly directed via SAO, has been demonstrated in digesters operating under a wide range of HRT. To our knowledge, no published study has so far considered HRT as a sole factor, which obstructs analyses of its influence on the syntrophic pathway. However, microorganisms involved in SAO are clearly able to remain active and competitive at a wide range of HRT. Recent high-ammonia studies regarding the impact by OLR and addition of trace elements indicate the potential to direct, create and manage microbial communities to optimise process performance. In line with this, both OLR and addition of trace elements have been shown to influence methanogenic and acetogenic community structures, including potential SAOB. Operation at higher temperature increases the probability of SAO development, possibly due to thermodynamic favouring of SAO by the higher temperature, and increased NH₃ ratio and successive inhibition of the acetoclastic methanogens competing for acetate. Bioaugmentation with syntrophic co-cultures does not facilitate the dynamic transition from acetoclastic methanogenesis to SAO, whereas addition of M. bourgensis improves adaptation to gradually increased ammonia in mesophilic conditions.

Considering the functional importance of syntrophic bacteria in methanogenic systems, increased knowledge of these populations is essential for forecasting process failures and for devising strategies for process optimisation. Next-generation sequencing technologies enable characterisation of complex microbial communities and, considering the rapid development within this area, the potential for targeting low-abundance populations, such as syntrophic communities, will increase. This area thereby holds great potential to expand knowledge of the influence of factors such as availability of nutrients, temperature and ammonia level, and consequently allow for more perceptive predictions of their behaviour in ecosystems. However, just as in interpretation and description in all microbial ecology, the challenge is of course to correlate the genetic data with functional traits. Analyses of the recently published genomes of C. ultunense, T. phaeum, S. schinkii and T. acetatoxydans could provide insights into functional genes that can be related to the metabolic commitment, and enable inference of syntrophic entities present and their function within the community.

Acknowledgements

The authors gratefully acknowledge financial support from Microdrive, Formas, Norwegian Research Council and Tekniska verken i Linköping AB.

References

- [1] EurObserv'ER. Biogas barometer. In: Observ'ER. p. 1–11.
- [2] Fotidis IA, Karakashev D, Angelidaki I. The dominant acetate degradation pathway/methanogenic composition in full-scale anaerobic digesters operating under different ammonia levels. Int J Environ Sci Technol 2014;11:2087–94.
- [3] Moestedt J, Nilsson Påledal S, Schnürer A, Nordell E. Biogas production from thin stillage on an industrial scale – experience and optimisation. Energies 2013;6:5642–55.
- [4] Rajagopal R, Massé DI, Singh G. A critical review on inhibition of anaerobic digestion process by excess ammonia. Bioresour Technol 2013;143:632–41.
- [5] Kovács E, Wirth R, Mároti G, Bagi Z, Rákhely G, Kovács KL. Biogas production from protein-rich biomass: fed-batch anaerobic fermentation of casein and of pig blood and associated changes in microbial community composition. PLoS ONE 2013;8:1–18.
- [6] Moestedt J, Nordell E, Schnürer A. Comparison of operational strategies for increased biogas production from thin stillage. J Biotechnol 2014;175:22–30.
- [7] Yekta SS, Svensson BH, Björn A, Skyllberg U. Thermodynamic modeling of iron and trace metal solubility and speciation under sulfidic and ferruginous conditions in full scale continuous stirred tank biogas reactors. Appl Geochem 2014;47:61–73.
- [8] Zhang Y, Angelidaki I. Counteracting ammonia inhibition during anaerobic digestion by recovery using submersible microbial desalination cell. Biotechnol Bioeng 2015;112:1478–82.
- [9] Yenigün O, Demirel B. Ammonia inhibition in anaerobic digestion: a review. Process Biochem 2013;48:901–11.
- [10] Schnürer A, Nordberg A. Ammonia, a selective agent for methane production by syntrophic acetate oxidation at mesophilic temperature. Water Sci Technol 2008;57:735–40.
- [11] Westerholm M, Dolfing J, Sherry A, Gray ND, Head IM, Schnürer A. Quantification of syntrophic acetate-oxidizing microbial communities in biogas processes. Environ Microbiol Reports 2011;3:500–5.
- [12] Westerholm M, Levén L, Schnürer A. Bioaugmentation of syntrophic acetateoxidising culture in biogas reactors exposed to increasing levels of ammonia. Appl Environ Microbiol 2012;78:7619–25.
- [13] Sun L, Müller B, Westerholm M, Schnürer A. Syntrophic acetate oxidation in industrial CSTR biogas digesters. J Biotechnol 2014;171:39–44.
- [14] Lü F, Hao L, Guan D, Qi Y, Shao L, He P. Synergetic stress of acids and ammonium on the shift in the methanogenic pathways during thermophilic anaerobic digestion of organics. Water Res 2013;47:2297–306.
- [15] Werner JJ, Garcia ML, Perkins SD, Yarasheski KE, Smith SR, Muegge B, et al. Microbial community dynamics and stability during an ammonia-induced shift to syntrophic acetate oxidation. Appl Environ Microbiol 2014;80:3375–83.
- [16] Westerholm M, Müller B, Isaksson S, Schnürer A. Trace element and temperature effects on microbial communities and links to biogas digester performance at high ammonia levels. Biotechnol Biofuel 2015:8:1–19.
- [17] Solli L, Elise Håvelsrud O, Horn SJ, Gunn Rike A. A metagenomic study of the microbial communities in four parallel biogas reactors. Biotechnol Biofuel 2014;7:1–15.
- [18] Luo G, Fotidis IA, Angelidaki I. Comparative analysis of taxonomic, functional, and metabolic patterns of microbiomes from 14 full-scale biogas reactors by metagenomic sequencing and radioisotopic analysis. Biotechnol Biofuels 2016;9:1–12.
- [19] Banks CJ, Zhang Y, Jiang Y, Heaven S. Trace elements requirements for stable food waste digestion at elevated ammonia concentrations. Bioresour Technol 2012;104:127–35.
- [20] Moestedt J, Nilsson-Påledal S, Schnürer A. The effect of substrate and operational parameters on the abundance of sulphate-reducing bacteria in industrial anaerobic digesters. Bioresour Technol 2013;132:327–32.
- [21] Hansen KH, Angelidaki I, Ahring BK. Anaerobic digestion of swine manure: inhibition by ammonia. Water Res 1998;32:5–12.
- [22] De Vrieze J, Saunders AM, He Y, Fang J, Nielsen PH, Verstraete W, et al. Ammonia and temperature determine potential clustering in the anaerobic digestion microbiome. Water Res 2015;75:312–23.
- [23] Morris BEL, Henneberger R, Huber H, Moissl-Eichinger C. Microbial syntrophy: interaction for the common good. FEMS Microbiol Rev 2013;37:384–406.
- [24] Mulat DG, Jacobi HF, Feilberg A, Adamsen APS, Richnow H, Nikolausz M. Changing feeding regimes to demonstrate flexible biogas production: effects on process performance, microbial community structure and methanogenic pathways. Appl Environ Microbiol 2015.

- [25] Ziganshin AM, Liebetrau J, Pröter J, Kleinsteuber S. Microbial community structure and dynamics during anaerobic digestion of various agricultural waste materials. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2013;97:5161–74.
- [26] Belostotskiy DE, Ziganshina EE, Siniagina M, Boulygina EA, Liluykov VA, Ziganshin AM. Impact of the substrate loading regime and phosphoric acid supplementation on performance of biogas reactors and microbial community dynamics during anaerobic digestion of chicken wastes. Bioresour Technol 2015;193:42–52.
- [27] Nikolausz M, Walter RFH, Sträuber H, Liebetrau J, Schmidt T, Kleinsteuber S, et al. Evaluation of stable isotope fingerprinting techniques for the assessment of the predominant methanogenic pathways in anaerobic digesters. Bioenergy Biofuel 2013;97:2251–62.
- [28] Rivera-Salvador V, López-Cruz IL, Espinosa-Solares T, Aranda-Barradas JS, Huber DH, Sharma D, et al. Application of anaerobic digestion model No. 1 to describe the syntrophic acetate oxidation of poultry litter in thermophilic anaerobic digestion. Bioresour Technol 2014;167:495–502.
- [29] Shimada T, Morgenroth E, Tandukar M, Pavlostathis SG, Smith A, Raskin L, et al. Syntrophic acetate oxidation in two-phase (acid-methane) anaerobic digesters. Water Sci Technol 2011;64:1812–20.
- [30] Hagen LH, Vivekanand V, Linjordet R, Pope PB, Eijsink VGH, Horn SJ. Microbial community structure and dynamics during co-digestion of whey permeate and cow manure in continuous stirred tank reactor systems. Bioresour Technol 2014;171:350–9.
- [31] Kampmann K, Ratering S, Baumann R, Schmidt M, Zerr W, Schnell S. Hydrogenotrophic methanogens dominate in biogas reactors fed with defined substrates. Syst Appl Microbiol 2012;35:404–13.
- [32] Shin SG, Yoo S, Hwang K, Song M, Kim W, Han G, et al. Dynamics of transitional acidogenic community along with methnogenic population during anaerobic digestion of swine wastewater. Proc Biochem 2011;46:1607–13.
- [33] Nettmann E, Bergmann I, Pramschüfer S, Mundt K, Plogsties V, Herrmann C, et al. Phylophasic analyses of methanogenic archaeal communities in agricultural biogas plants. Appl Environ Microbiol 2010;76:2540–8.
- [34] Wilson CA, Novak J, Takacs I, Wett B, Murthy S. The kinetics of process dependent ammonia inhibition of methanogenesis from acetic acid. Water Res 2012;46:6247–56.
- [35] Angenent LT, Sung S, Raskin L. Methanogenic population dynamics during startup of a full-scale anaerobic sequencing batch reactor treating swine waste. Water Res 2002;36:4648–54.
- [36] Wirth R, Kovács E, Maróti G, Bagi Z, Rákhely G, Kovács KL. Characterization of a biogas-producing microbial community by short-read next generation DNA sequencing. Biotechnol Biofuel 2012;5:1–16.
- [37] Ziganshina EE, Belostotskiy DE, Ilinskaya ON, Boulygina EA, Grigoryeva TV, Ziganshin AM. Effect of the organic loading rate increase and the presence of zeolite on microbial community composition and process stability during anaerobic digestion of chicken wastes. Microb Ecol 2015;70:948–60.
- [38] Gao S, Zhao M, Chen M, Yu M, Ruan W. Tolerance response to *in situ* ammonia stress in a pilot-scale anaerobic digestion reactor for alleviating ammonia inhibition. Bioresour Technol 2015;198:372–9.
- [39] Hattori S, Kamagata Y, Hanada S, Shoun H. Thermacetogenium phaeum gen. nov., sp. nov., a strictly anaerobic, thermophilic, syntrophic acetate-oxidizing bacterium. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 2000;50:1601–9.
- [40] Balk M, Weijma J, Stams AJM. Thermotoga lettingae sp. nov., a novel thermophilic, methanol-degrading bacterium isolated from a thermophilic anaerobic reactor. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 2002;52:1361–8.
- [41] Bhandari V, Gupta RS. Molecular signatures for the phylum (class) Thermotogae and a proposal for its division into three orders (*Thermotogales, Kosmotogales* ord. nov. and *Petrotogales* ord. nov.) containing four families (*Thermotogaceae, Fervidobacteriaceae* fam. nov., *Kosmotogaceae* fam. nov. and *Petrotogaceae* fam. nov.) and a new genus *Pseudothermotoga* gen. nov. with five new combinations. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 2014;105:143–68.
- [42] Westerholm M, Roos S, Schnürer A. *Tepidanaerobacter acetatoxydans* sp. nov., an anaerobic, syntrophic acetate-oxidizing bacterium isolated from two ammonium-enriched mesophilic methanogenic processes. Syst Appl Microbiol 2011;34:260–6.
- [43] Schnürer A, Schink B, Svensson BH. Clostridium ultunense sp. nov., a mesophilic bacterium oxidizing acetate in syntrophic association with a hydrogenotrophic methanogenic bacterium. Int J Syst Bacteriol 1996;46:1145–52.
- [44] Westerholm M, Roos S, Schnürer A. Syntrophaceticus schinkii gen. nov., sp. nov., an anaerobic, syntrophic acetate-oxidizing bacterium isolated from a mesophilic anaerobic filter. FEMS Microbiol Lett 2010;309:100–4.
- [45] Hattori S. Syntrophic acetate-oxidizing microbes in methanogenic environments. Microbes Environ 2008;23:118–27.
- [46] Angelidaki I, Ahring BK. Thermophilic anaerobic digestion of livestock waste: the effect of ammonia. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 1993;38:560–4.
- [47] Wang H, Fotidis IA, Angelidaki I. Ammonia effect on hydrogenotrophic methanogens and syntrophic acetate oxidizing bacteria. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 2015.
- [48] Kato S, Sasaki K, Watanabe K, Yumotot I, Kamagata Y. Physiological and transriptomic analyses of the thermophilic, acetoclastic methanogen *Methanosaeta thermophila* responding to ammonia stress. Microbes Environ 2014;29:162–7.

- [49] Rademacher A, Zakrzewski M, Schlüter A, Schönberg M, Szczepanowski R, Goesmann A, et al. Characterization of microbial biofilms in a thermophilic biogas system by high-throughput metagenome sequencing. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 2012;79:785–99.
- [50] Sasaki D, Hori T, Haruta S, Ueno Y, Ishii M, Igarashi Y. Methanognic pathway and community structure in a thermophilic anaerobic digestion process of organic solid waste. J Biosci Bioeng 2011;111:41–6.
- [51] Schlüter A, Bekel T, Diaz NN, Dondrup M, Eichenlaub R, Gartemann K, et al. The metagenome of a biogas-producing microbial community of a production-scale biogas plant fermenter analysed by the 454pyrosequencing technology. J Biotechnol 2008;136:77–90.
- [52] Weiss A, Jerome V, Freitag R, Mayer HK. Diversity of the resident microbiota in a thermophilic municipal biogas plant. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2008;81:163–73.
- [53] Tang Y, Fujimura Y, Shigematsu T, Morimura S, Kida K. Anaerobic treatment performance and microbial population of thermophilic upflow anaerobic filter reactor treating *Awamori* distillery wastewater. J Biosci Bioeng 2007;104:281–7.
- [54] Tang Y, Shigematsu T, Morimura S, Kida K. Microbial community analysis of mesophilic anaerobic protein degradation process using bovine serum albumin (BSA)-fed continuous cultivation. J Biosci Bioeng 2005;99sb: pages> 150–64.
- [55] Jang HM, Cho HU, Park SK, Ha JH, Park JM. Influence of thermophilic aerobic digestion as sludge pre-treatment and solids retention time of mesophilic anaerobic digestion on the methane production, sludge digestion and microbial communities in a sequential digestion process. Water Res 2014;48:1–14.
- [56] Lebuhn M, Hanreich A, Klocke M, Schlüter A, Bauer C, Pérez CM. Towards molecular biomarkers for biogas production from lignocellulose-rich substrates. Anaerobe 2014;29:10–21.
- [57] Karlsson A, Einarsson P, Schnürer A, Eljertsson J, Svensson BH. Impact of trace element addition on degradation efficiency of volatile fatty acids, oleic acid and phenyl acetate and on microbial populations in a biogas digester. J Biosci Bioeng 2012;114:446–52.
- [58] Yi J, Dong B, Xue Y, Li N, Gao P, Zhao Y, et al. MIcrobial community dynamics in batch high-solid anaerobic digestion of food waste under mesophilic conditions. J Microbiol Biotechnol 2014;24:270–9.
- [59] Lins P, Reitschuler C, Illmer P. Methanosarcina spp., the key to relieve the start-up of a thermophilic anaerobic digestion suffering from high acetic acid loads. Bioresour Technol 2014;152:347–54.
- [60] Tang Y, Ji P, Hayashi J, Koike Y, Wu X, Kida K. Characteristic microbial community of a dry thermophilic methanogenic digester: its long-term stability and change with feeding. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2011;91:1447–61.
- [61] Yabu H, Sakai C, Fujiwara T, Nishio N, Nakashimada Y. Thermophilic twostage dry anaerobic digestion of model garbage with ammonia stripping. J Biosci Bioeng 2011;111:312–9.
- [62] Hattori S, Galushko AS, Kamagata Y, Schink B. Operation of the CO dehydrogenase/acetyl coenzyme A pathway in both acetate oxidation and acetate formation by the syntrophically acetate-oxidizing bacterium *Thermacetogenium phaeum*. J Bacteriol 2005;187:3471–6.
- [63] Müller B, Sun L, Schnürer A. First insights into the syntrophic acetateoxidizing bacteria – a genetic study. MicrobiologyOpen 2012;2:35–53.
- [64] Drake HL, Gossner AS, Daniel SL. Old acetogens, new light. Ann NY Acad Sci 2008;1125:100-28.
- [65] Nobu MK, Narihiro T, Rinke C, Kamagata Y, Tringe SG, Woyke T, et al. Microbial dark matter ecogenomics reveals complex synergistic network in a methanogenic bioreactor. ISME J 2015;9:1710–22.
- [66] Westerholm M, Müller B, Arthurson V, Schnürer A. Changes in the acetogenic population in a mesophilic anaerobic digester in response to increasing ammonia concentration. Microbes Environ 2011;26:347–53.
- [67] Hori T, Sasaki D, Haruta S, Shigematsu T, Ueno Y, Ishii M, et al. Detection of active, potentially acetate-oxidizing syntrophs in an anaerobic digester by flux measurement and formyltetrahydrofolate synthetase (FTHFS) expression profiling. Microbiology 2011;157:1980–9.
- [68] Müller B, Sun L, Westerholm M, Schnürer A. Bacterial community composition and fhs profiles of low and high ammonia biogas digesters reveal novel syntrophic acetate-oxidising bacteria. Biotechnol Biofuel 2016.
- [69] Moestedt J, Müller B, Westerholm M, Schnürer A. Ammonia threshold for inhibition of anaerobic digestion of thin stillage and the importance of organic loading rate. Microbial Biotechnol 2016;9:180–94.
- [70] Zakrzewski M, Goesmann A, Jaenicke S, Jünemann S, Eikmeyer F, Szczepanowski R, et al. Profiling of the metabolically active community from a production-scale biogas plant by means of high-throughput metatranscriptome sequencing. J Biotechnol 2012;158:248–58.
- [71] Ito T, Yoshiguchi K, Ariesyady HD, Okabe S. Identification of a novel acetateutilizing bacterium belonging to Synergistes group 4 in anaerobic digester sludge. ISME J 2011;5:1844–56.
- [72] Mosbaek F, Kjeldal H, Mulat DG, Albertsen M, Ward AJ, Feilberg A, et al. Identification of syntrophic acetate-oxidizing bacteria in anaerobic digesters by combined protein-based stable isotope probing and metagenomics. ISME J 2016:1–14.
- [73] Yamada C, Kato S, Ueno Y, Ishii M, Igarashi Y. Conductive iron oxides accelerate thermophilic methnogenesis from acetate and propionate. J Biosci Bioeng 2014:1–5.

- [74] Ho D, Jensen P, Batstone D. Effects of temperature and hydraulic retention time on acetotrophic pathways and performance in high-rate sludge digestion. Environ Sci Technol 2014;48:6468–76.
- [75] Lee S, Park J, Kim SH, Yu BJ, Yoon J, Park H. Evidence off syntrophic acetate oxidation by *Spirochaetes* during anaerobic methane production. Bioresour Technol 2015;190:543–9.
- [76] Bassani I, Kougias PG, Treu L, Angelidaki I. Biogas upgrading via hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis in two-stage continuous stirred tank reactors at mesophilic and thermophilic conditions. Environ Sci Technol 2015;49:12585–93.
- [77] Garcia ML, Angenent LT. Interaction between temperature and ammonia in mesophilic digesters for animal waste treatment. Water Res 2009;43: 2373–82.
- [78] Koster IW, Lettinga G. Anaerobic digestion at extreme ammonia concentrations. Biol Wastes 1988;25:51–9.
- [79] Calli B, Mertoglu B, Inanc B, Yenigun O. Effects of high free ammonia concentrations on the performance of anaerobic bioreactors. Process Biochem 2005;40:1285–92.
- [80] Lv Z, Hu M, Harms H, Richnow HH, Liebetrau J, Nikolausz M. Stable isotope composition of biogas allows early warning of complete process failure as a result of ammonia inhibition in anaerobic digesters. Bioresour Technol 2014;167:251–9.
- [81] Angelidaki I, Ahring BK. Anaerobic thermophilic digestion of manure at different ammonia loads: effect of temperature. Water Residue 1994;28:727–31.
- [82] Rui J, Li J, Zhang S, Yan X, Wang Y, Li X. The core populations and cooccurrence patterns of prokaryotic communities in household biogas digesters. Biotechnol Biofuels 2015;8:1–15.
- [83] Moestedt J, Müller B, Westerholm M, Schnürer A. Ammonia threshold for inhibition of anaerobic digestion of thin stillage and the importance of organic loading rate. Microbial Biotechnol 2016;9:180–94.
- [84] Alvarado A, Montañez-Hernández LE, Palacio-Molina SL, Oropeza-Navarro R, Luévanos-Escareño MP, Balagurusamy N. Microbial trophic interactions and mcrA gene expression in monitoring of anaerobic digesters. Front Microbiol 2014;5.
- [85] Dolfing J. Thermodynamic constraints on syntrophic acetate oxidation. Appl Environ Microbiol 2014;80:1539–41.
- [86] Li Y, Nelson MC, Chen P, Graf J, Li Y, Yu Z. Comparison of the microbial communities in solid-state anaerobic digestion (SS-AD) reactors operated at mesophilic and thermophilic temperatures. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2015;99:969–80.
- [87] Pap B, Györkei Á, Boboescu IZ, Nagy IK, Bíró T, Kondorosi É, et al. Temperature-dependent transformation of biogas-producing microbial communities points to the increased importance of hydrogenotrophic methanogenesis under thermophilic operation. Bioresour Technol 2015;177:375–80.
- [88] Sun L, Pope PB, Eijsink VGH, Schnürer A. Characterization of microbial community structure during continuous anaerobic digestion of straw and cow manure. Microbial Biotechnol 2015;8:815–27.
- [89] Yu D, Kurola JM, Lähde K, Kymäläinen M, Sinkkonen A, Romantschuk M. Biogas production and methanogenic archaeal community in mesophilic and thermophilic anaerobic co-digestion processes. J Environ Manage 2014;143:54–60.
- [90] Shigematsu T, Tang Y, Kobayashi T, Kawaguchi H, Morimura S, Kida K. Effect of dilution rate on metabolic pathway shift between acetoclastic and nonacetoclastic methanogenesis in chemostat cultivation. Appl Environ Microbiol 2004;70:4048–52.
- [91] Karakashev D, Batstone DJ, Trably E, Angelidaki I. Acetate oxidation is the dominant methanogenic pathway from acetate in the absence of *Methanosaetaceae*. Appl Environ Microbiol 2006;72:5138–41.
- [92] Polag D, Heuwinkel H, Laukenmann S, Greule M, Keppler F. Evidence of anaerobic syntrophic acetate oxidation in biogas batch reactors by analysis of 13C carbon isotopes. Isot Environ Health Stud 2013:1–13.
- [93] Zinder SH, Koch M. Non-acetoclastic methanogenesis from acetate: acetate oxidation by a thermophilic syntrophic coculture. Arch Microbiol 1984;138:263–72.
- [94] Petersen SP, Ahring BK. Acetate oxidation in a thermophilic anaerobic sludgedigestor: the importance of non-acetoclastic methanogenesis from acetate. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 1991;86:149–58.
- [95] Qu X, Vavilin VA, Mazéas L, Lemunier M, Duquennoi C, He P, et al. Anaerobic biodegradation of cellulosic material: batch experiments and modelling based on isotopic data and focusing on acetoclastic and non-acetoclastic methanogenesis. Waste Manage 2009;29:1828–37.
- [96] Hao L, Lü F, He P, Li L, Shao L. Predominant contribution of syntrophic acetate oxidation to thermophilic methane formation at high acetate concentrations. Environ Sci Technol 2011;45:508–13.
- [97] Hao L, Lü F, Li L, Shao L, He P. Shift of pathways during initiation of thermophilic methanogenesis at different initial pH. Bioresour Technol 2012;126:418–24.
- [98] Hao L, Lü F, Wu Q, Shao L, He P. Self-adaptation of methane-producing communities to pH disturbance at different acetate concentrations by shifting pathways and population interaction. Bioresour Technol 2013;140:319–27.
- [99] Ho DP, Jensen PD, Batstone DJ. Methanosarcinaceae and acetate-oxidizing pathways dominate in high-rate thermophilic anaerobic digestion of wasteactivated sludge. Appl Environ Microbiol 2013;79:6491–500.

- [100] Fotidis IA, Karakashev D, Kotsopoulos TA, Gerassimos G, Martzopoulos GG, Angelidaki I. Effect of ammonium and acetate on methanogenic pathway and methanogenic community composition. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 2013;2013:38–48.
- [101] Mulat DG, Ward AJ, Adamsen APS, Voigt NV, Nielsen JL, Feilberg A. Quantifying contribution of syntrophic acetate oxidation to methane production in thermophilic anaerobic reactors by membrane inlet mass spectrometry. Environ Sci Technol 2014;48:2505–11.
- [102] Krakat N, Westphai A, Schmidt S, Scherer P. Anaerobic digestion of renewable biomass: thermophilic temperature governs methanogen population dynamics. Appl Environ Microbiol 2010;76:1842–50.
- [103] Ryan P, Forbes C, McHugh S, O'Reilly C, Fleming GTA, Colleran E. Enrichment of acetogenic bacteria in high rate anaerobic reactors under mesophilic and thermophilic conditions. Water Res 2010;44:4261–9.
- [104] Town JR, Links MG, Fonstad TA, Dumonceaux TJ. Molecular characterization of anaerobic digester microbial communities identifies microorganisms that correlate to reactor performance. Bioresour Technol 2014;151:249–57.
- [105] Poirier S, Desmond-Le Quéméner E, Madigou C, Bouchez T, Chapleur O. Anaerobic digestion of biowaste under extreme ammonia concentration: identification of key microbial phylotypes. Bioresour Technol 2016;207:92–101.
- [106] Schnürer A, Zellner G, Svensson BH. Mesophilic syntrophic acetate oxidation during methane formation in biogas reactors. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 1999;29:249–61.
- [107] Worm P, Müller N, Plugge CM, Stams AJM, Schink B. Syntrophy in methanogenic degradation. In: Hackstein JHP, editor. (Endo)symbiotic Methanogenic Archaea. Berlin: Springer-Verlag; 2010. p. 143–73.
- [108] Müller B, Manzoor S, Niazi A, Bongcam-Rudloff E, Schnürer A. Genomeguided analysis of physiological capacities of *Tepidanaerobacter acetatoxydans* provides insights into environmental adaptations and syntrophic acetate oxidation. PLoS ONE 2015;10:1–21.
- [109] Manzoor S, Müller B, Niazi A, Schnürer A, Bongcam-Rudloff E. Working draft genome sequence of the mesophilic acetate oxidizing bacterium *Syntrophaceticus schinkii* strain Sp3. Stand Genomic Sci 2015;10:99. eCollection 2015.
- [110] Oehler D, Poehlein A, Leimbach A, Müller N, Daniel R, Gottschalk G, et al. Genome-guided analysis of physiological and morphological traits of the fermentative acetate oxidizer *Thermacetogenium phaeum*. BMC Genomics 2012;13:723.
- [111] Westerholm M. Biogas production through the syntrophic acetate-oxidising pathway – characterisation and detection of syntrophic actate-oxidising bacteria. Uppsala: Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences; 2012.
- [112] Ahring BK. Methanogenesis in thermophilic biogas reactors. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek 1995;67:91–102.
- [113] Ahring BK, Schmidt JE, Winther-Nielsen M, Macarion AJL, Conway de Macario E. Effect of the medium composition and sludge removal on the production, composition and architecture of thermophilic (55 °C) acetate-utilizing granules from an upflow anaerobic sludge blanket reactor. Appl Environ Microbiol 1993;59:2538-44.
- [114] Hori T, Haruta S, Ueno Y, Ishii M, Igarashi Y. Dynamic transition of a methanogenic population in response to the concentration of volatile fatty acids in a thermophilic anaerobic digester. Appl Environ Microbiol 2006;72:1623–30.
- [115] Hao L, Lü F, Mazéas L, Quéméner E, Madigou C, Guenne A, et al. Stable isotope probing of acetate fed anaerobic batch incubations shows a partial resistance of acetoclastic methanogenesis catalyzed by *Methanosarcina* to sudden increase of ammonia level. Water Res 2015;69:90–9.

- [116] De Vrieze J, Hennebel T, Boon N, Verstraete W. Methanosarcina: the rediscovered methanogen for heavy duty biomethanation. Bioresour Technol 2012;112:1–9.
- [117] Smith KS, Ingram-Smith C. Methanosaeta, the forgotten methanogen? Trends Microbiol 2007;15:150–5.
- [118] Rotaru A, Shrestha D, Liu F, Markovaite B, Chen S, Nevin K, et al. Direct interspecies electron transfer between *Geobacter metallireducens* and *Methanosarcina barkeri*. Appl Environ Microbiol 2014;80:4599–605.
- [119] Rotaru A, Shrestha PM, Liu F, Shrestha M, Shrestha D, Embree M, et al. A new model for electron flow during anaerobic digestion: direct interspecies electron transfer to *Methanosaeta* for the reduction of carbon dioxide to methane. Energy Environ Sci 2014;7:408–15.
- [120] Hattori S, Luo H, Shoun H, Kamagata Y. Involvement of formate as an interspecies electron carrier in a syntrophic acetate-oxidizing anaerobic microorganism in coculture with methanogens. J Biosci Bioeng 2001;91:294–8.
- [121] Lee MJ, Zinder SH. Hydrogen partial pressure in a thermophilic acetateoxidizing methanogenic coculture. Appl Environ Microbiol 1988;54:1457–61.
- [122] Schnürer A, Houwen FP, Svensson BH. Mesophilic syntrophic acetate oxidation during methane formation by a triculture at high ammonium concentration. Arch Microbiol 1994;162:70–4.
- [123] Thauer RK, Kaster A, Seedorf H, Buckel W, Hedderich R. Methanogenic archaea: ecologically relevant differences in energy conservation. Nat Rev 2008;6:579–91.
- [124] Maus I, Wibberg D, Stantscheff R, Stolze Y, Blom J, Eikmeyer F, et al. Insights into the annotated genome sequence of Methanoculleus bourgensis MS2T, related to dominant methanogens in biogas-producing plants. J Biotechnol 2015;201:43–53.
- [125] Demirel B, Scherer P. The roles of acetotrophic and hydrogenotrophic methanogens during anaerobic conversion of biomass to methane: a review. Rev Environ Sci Biotechnol 2008;7:173–90.
- [126] Lü F, Luo C, Shao L, He P. Biochar alleviates combined stress of ammonium and acids by firstly enriching *Methanosaeta* and then *Methanosarcina*. Water Res 2016;90:34–43.
- [127] Viggi CC, Rossetti S, Fazi S, Paiano P, Majone M, Aulenta F. Magnetite particles triggering a faster and more robust syntrophic pathway of methanogenic propionate degradation. Environ Sci Technol 2014;48:7536–43.
- [128] Zhu D, Wang J, Chen T, Tan J, Yao D. Comparison of hematite-facilitated anaerobic digestion of acetate and beef extract. Environ Technol 2015;36:2295–9.
- [129] Moestedt J, Nordell E, Yekta SS, Lundgren J, Martí M, Sundberg C, et al. Effects of trace element addition on process stability during anaerobic co-digestion of OFMSW and slaughterhouse waste. Waste Manage 2015.
- [130] Ortner M, Rameder M, Rachbauer L, Bochmann G, Fuchs W. Bioavailability of essential trace elements and their impact on anaerobic digestion of slaughterhouse waste. Biochem Eng J 2015;99:107–13.
- [131] Feng XM, Karlsson A, Svensson BH, Bertilsson S. Impact of trace element addition on biogas production from food industrial waste – linking process to microbial communities. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 2010;74:226–40.
- [132] Fotidis IA, Karakashev D, Angelidaki I. Bioaugmentation with an acetateoxidising consortium as a tool to tackle ammonia inhibition of anaerobic digestion. Bioresour Technol 2013;146:57–62.
- [133] Fotidis IA, Wang H, Fiedel N-R, Luo G, Karakashev DB. Bioaugmentation as a solution to increase methane production from an ammonia-rich substrate. Environ Sci Technol 2014;48:7669–76.